2018

**STEVEN ERIC GRAHAM Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. ALBERTSON'S LLC  
Defendant/Appellee. : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Supreme Court

## INTRODUCTION

The Plaintiff/Appellant Steven Eric Graham (“Mr. Graham”) was granted permission to file this Appeal by the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, by Order dated December 26, 2018.

This Appeal is taken from an interlocutory Order of the District Court, which denied Mr. Graham’s motion for partial summary judgment, and granted Defendant/Appellee’s cross-motion for partial summary judgment, on the issue of whether Mr. Graham’s First Cause of Action, for Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy, is pre-empted by the administrative remedy established by Utah Code §34A-6-203 of the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act (“UOSH Act”).

The District Court’s ruling upon the parties’ cross-motions for partial summary judgment recognizes that the UOSH Act “does not contain an express exclusive remedy provision....” However, the District Court held that “a preemptive intent is implied by the structure and purpose of the UOSH Act.” Mr. Graham submits that the District Court’s decision on this issue is incorrect based upon the following grounds: (1) the District Court

did not apply the appropriate legal standards in deciding this issue; (2) the District Court did not properly consider Mr. Graham's evidence against pre-emption; and; (3) the limited remedies under Utah Code §34A-6-203(2)(c) establish an inference against pre-emption.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review in this Appeal is whether the administrative remedy provided by Utah Code §34A-6-203 of the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act pre-empts Mr. Graham's claim for Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy. The District Court decided that such claim is pre-empted based upon the parties' cross-motions for partial summary judgment. The District Court's ruling upon summary judgment is reviewed on appeal for correctness, without deference to the District Court's legal conclusions. *Gottling v. P.R. Incorporated*, 2002 UT 95; 61 P.3d 989, 991 (Utah 2002). The Order of the District Court upon the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, which is attached hereto as Addendum "A", indicates that this issue was preserved in the District Court. [R. 565-569].

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Statement of the Facts.<sup>1</sup>

1. Plaintiff/Appellant Steven Eric Graham (“Mr. Graham”) commenced employment with Defendant Albertson’s LLC (“Albertson’s”) on June 6, 2016, as an Order Puller at Albertson’s Salt Lake City Distribution Center. [R. 55].

2. On December 6, 2016, Mr. Graham injured his back while lifting cases of product at work. [R. 55].

3. On January 30, 2017, Mr. Graham complained to Albertson’s Human Resources Manager that he was being harassed by his supervisors and coworkers in retaliation for reporting his workplace injury. [R. 4].

4. Mr. Graham was discharged from his employment with Albertson’s on February 10, 2017. [R. 66].

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant’s Statement of the Facts is based upon Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Supporting Memorandum, which was filed in the District Court on April 17, 2018. [R.53-62.] The factual allegations of said Motion are supported by the Declaration of Steven Eric Graham, dated April 17, 2018 [R. 75-77]. As the party against whom summary judgment was granted, Mr. Graham is entitled to have all disputed issues of fact construed in his favor for purposes of this Appeal. *Retherford v. AT & T Communications*, 844 P.2d 954 (Utah 1992).



5. Mr. Graham alleges I this action that he was discharged in retaliation for reporting his injury, and for complaining about harassment and retaliation that he received from his supervisors and co-workers as a result of his injury [R. 65-67].

6. The limitations period for filing an administrative claim under Utah Code §34A-6-203 is 30 days.

7. The administrative remedy provided by Utah Code §34A-6-203 is limited to: “reinstatement of the employee to the employee’s former position with back pay.”

B. Procedural History of the Case.

8. Mr. Graham filed his Complaint in this action in the District Court on January 29, 2018. Said Complaint alleges three Causes of Action, as follows: (1) Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing. [R. 1-14].

9. Mr. Graham’s First Cause of Action alleges that he was discharged in retaliation for reporting a work place injury in violation of the public policy of the State of Utah. The specific public policy asserted by Mr. Graham in his First Cause of Action is indicated by Utah Code §34A-6-203. [R. 7-8].

10. Subsequent to the filing of Mr. Graham's Complaint, the parties filed cross-motions for partial summary judgment on the issue of whether Mr. Graham's wrongful termination claim is pre-empted by the administrative remedy established by Utah Code §34A-6-203. [R. 53-72;132-136].<sup>2</sup>

11. In support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Mr. Graham asserted that certain provisions of the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act, specifically, Utah Code §34A-6-201, §34A-6-301(3)(b)(iii), and §34A-6-301(3)(b)(vi)-(vii), create a right and obligation on the part of employees to report workplace injuries which result in, inter alia, medical treatment and restriction of work, and that Utah Code §34A-6-203 indicates a public policy within the State of Utah which prohibits employers from retaliating against employees for exercising such rights. [R. 55-58]. Albertson's did not dispute these assertions.

12. On July 30, 2018, Mr. Graham filed Plaintiff's Notice of Supplemental Authority. [R. 215-216]. Said Notice of Supplemental Authority advised the District Court of certain provisions of R614-1-10.L.3-

---

<sup>2</sup> The parties filed opposition and reply memoranda in the District Court as provided by Rule 7 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. [R.114-131; 139-151;154-200]. The District Court held oral argument upon said motions on September 7, 2018. [R.536-537].

5 of the Utah Administrative Code, which provide for the deferral of the administrative remedy under Utah Code §34A-6-203, “Where a complainant is in fact pursuing remedies other than those provided by Section 34A-6-203.”

13. On September 21, 2018, Mr. Graham filed a Second Notice of Supplemental Authority. [R. 541-542]. Said Second Notice of Supplemental Authority advised the District Court of certain provisions of Utah Code §34A-6-110, which provide that the remedies established by the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act are not “deemed to limit or repeal requirements imposed by statute or otherwise recognized by law.”

C. Disposition in the District Court.

14. On October 12, 2018, the District Court entered its Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Granting Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to Perform Discovery. (“District Court’s Order”<sup>3</sup>). [R. 565-569]. The District Court’s Order states in part:

3. The Court finds that the UOSH Act preempts plaintiff’s claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. This finding is based on the Court’s analysis of the UOSH Act itself. Although the UOSH Act does not contain an express exclusive remedy provision, when

---

<sup>3</sup> A true and correct copy of the District Court’s Order is attached hereto as Addendum “A”.

examining the legislative intent behind the UOSH Act, the court finds that in passing the UOSH Act, the legislature put in place a comprehensive piece of legislation to provide for the safety and health of workers and provided a coordinated plan to establish standards to do so. The Court finds that a preemptive intent is implied by the structure and purpose of the UOSH Act. The UOSH Act establishes standards, procedures, a scheme of regulation, and a bureaucratic system to implement its aims in a timely and cost-effective approach.

4. The Court notes plaintiff's argument that Utah Administrative Code rule R614-1-10.L indicates that the Legislature did not intend to preempt his tort claim, in that that administrative code provision provides for a postponement of the Administrator's determination in circumstances where other proceedings are ongoing and for deferral to the results of such proceedings. The Court's reading of that provision is that it applies to arbitration and other agency proceedings, and it does not change the Court's reading of the UOSH Act as it relates to a common-law tort claim, such as the one at issue here.

5. The Court further finds that allowing plaintiff's common-law tort claim runs counter to the purpose of the UOSH Act in that it could discourage employees from making a claim under the UOSH Act in order to pursue broader remedies than those provided under the UOSH Act, and that claims under the UOSH Act address the concerns not only of individual employees but also the broader purpose of providing for the safety and welfare of all workers through the broader regulatory structure of the UOSH Act. [R. 566-67].

The District Court did not address Mr. Graham's argument that Utah Code §34A-6-110 establishes that the remedies under the Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act are not "deemed to limit or repeal requirements imposed by statute or otherwise recognized by law." [R. 565-69].

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in this case by denying Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment, and granting the Defendant's motion for partial summary judgment, on the issue of whether Mr. Graham's wrongful termination is pre-empted by the administrative remedy established by Utah Code §34A-6-203. The District Court failed to apply the appropriate legal standards in deciding this issue, first, by failing to allocate the burden of proof to the Defendant, and second, by failing to require a "clear and manifest" intent to pre-empt on the part of the Utah Legislature, as required by applicable law.

The District Court further erred by relying upon unsupported factual assumptions in support of its decision on pre-emption. The District Court assumed, without evidence, that recognition on Mr. Graham's wrongful termination claim would deter other workers from pursuing administrative claims under §34A-6-203, and impair the "broader purpose" of the UOSH Act in providing for the safety and welfare of all workers. Mr. Graham submits, to the contrary, that recognition of his wrongful termination claim would further the purpose of protecting the safety of Utah workers, and would not interfere with the administrative procedures under the UOSH Act.

Finally, the District Court failed to properly consider evidence that was presented by Mr. Graham indicating that the UOSH Act was not intended to pre-empt alternative remedies, including Mr. Graham's wrongful termination claim. Utah Code §34A-6-110 expressly states that the UOSH Act does not limit or repeal requirements imposed by statute or otherwise recognized by law, or supersede any common law or statutory rights with respect to injuries arising out of the course of employment. The District Court did not consider this Statute. Further, R614-1-10.L.3-5 of the Utah Administrative Code sets forth detailed provisions for the deferral of administrative proceedings under §34A-6-110 where "other proceedings" asserting "substantially the same as rights" are asserted in "other forums." The District Court incorrectly construed such deferral as being limited to alternative administrative proceedings and arbitration proceedings under labor contracts, and failed to consider the significance of these provisions on the broader issue of pre-emption.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL TERMINATION IS BARRED BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDY UNDER THE UTAH OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT.

In *Gottling v. P.R. Incorporated*, 2002 UT 95; 61 P.3d 989, 991 (Utah 2002), the Utah Supreme Court held that a common law claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy was pre-empted by the exclusive remedy provision of the Utah Anti-Discrimination Act ("UADA"). Although the UADA contains an express exclusive remedy provision, the *Gottling* court considered possible circumstances in which pre-emption might occur in the absence of such a provision, stating:

Sometimes courts, when facing the pre-emption question, find language in the... statute that reveals an explicit [legislative] intent to pre-empt [common] law. More often, explicit pre-emption language does not appear, or does not directly answer the question. In that event, courts must consider whether the ... statute's "structure and purpose," or nonspecific statutory language, nonetheless reveal a clear, but implicit, preemptive intent. [a] A... statute, for example, may create a scheme of [statutory] regulation "so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that [the legislature] left no room for the [common law] to supplement it." [b] Alternatively, [statutory] law may be in "irreconcilable conflict" with [the common] law. Compliance with both ..., for example, may be a "physical impossibility," or, [c] the [common] law may "stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of [the legislature]." *Gottling*, 61 P.3d at 992. (quoting *Barnett Bank of Marion County v. Nelson*, 517 U.S. 25, 31, 116 S.Ct. 1103, 134 L.Ed.2d 237 (1996)).

The present Appeal directly raises the issue that was discussed within the above-quoted language from *Gottling*. It is undisputed that the UOSH Act contains no express exclusive remedy or pre-emption provision. Nevertheless, the District Court held that the administrative remedy established by the UOSH Act pre-empts Mr. Graham's wrongful termination claim because a legislative intent to pre-empt such claim "is implied by the structure and purpose of the UOSH Act." Specifically, the District Court held that the "UOSH Act establishes standards, procedures, a scheme of regulation, and a bureaucratic system to implement its aims in a timely and cost-effective approach." However, while purporting to follow *Gottling*, the District Court in this case did not properly allocate the burden of proof on the issue of pre-emption, and did not fully consider evidence presented by Mr. Graham establishing that the administrative remedy under the UOSH Act is not intended to be exclusive.

A. The District Court Did Not Apply the Appropriate Legal Standards in this Case.

The Defendant bears the burden of proof with respect to a defense of statutory pre-emption. *Robertson v. Gem Insurance*, 828 P.2d 496, 500 (Utah App. 1992); *State v. Jones*, 958 P.2d 938, 940-41 (Utah App. 1998).

In the present case, the District Court's Order provides no express reference to the burden of proof relating to the Defendant's pre-emption



defense.<sup>4</sup> However, proper application of the burden of proof is crucial in determining this issue, and would result in a ruling in favor of Mr. Graham.

The *Gottling* court did not expressly discuss the proper burden of proof for determining a statutory pre-emption defense. However, the *Gottling* court stated that pre-emption only occurs where a statute's structure and purpose “reveal a clear, but implicit, pre-emptive intent.” 61 P.3d at 992. This language from *Gottling* places a burden upon the party asserting pre-emption to establish a clear legislative intent to pre-empt the claim in question.

*Gottling* expressly relied upon decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court in adopting the above-quoted principles relating to pre-emption. In fact, the Utah courts have generally relied upon Federal precedents in deciding pre-emption issues. For example, in *Gilger v. Hernandez*, 2000 UT 23; 997 P.2d 305 (Utah 2000), the Utah Supreme Court stated that decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court relating to federal pre-emption of state statutes are

---

<sup>4</sup> Mr. Graham’s attorney argued that Albertson’s bears the burden of proof upon its pre-emption defense at the hearing held in the District Court upon the parties’ cross-motions for partial summary judgment on September 7, 2018.

“analytically useful” in determining whether a Utah statute pre-empts a plaintiff’s common law claims. 997 P.2d at 308.<sup>5</sup>

In *State v. Jones*, 958 P.2d 938 (Utah App. 1998), the defendant moved to dismiss criminal charges brought against him for communications fraud under Utah law, on the grounds that the state law offense was pre-empted by the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS”). In upholding the district court’s denial of said motion, the Utah Court of Appeals relied upon Utah and Federal precedents regarding the scope of statutory pre-emption, as follows:

We do not "lightly infer preemption." *International Paper Co. v. Ouellette*, 479 U.S. 481, 491, 107 S.Ct. 805, 811, 93 L.Ed.2d 883 (1987); accord *State v. Sterkel*, 933 P.2d 409, 412 (Utah Ct.App.1997); see also *Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp.*, 331 U.S. 218, 230, 67 S.Ct. 1146, 1152, 91 L.Ed. 1447 (1947)(stating Court assumed "historic police powers of the States were not to be superseded" by federal legislation). In fact, it is inappropriate for us to conclude that federal legislation has preempted state law "unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Rice*, 331 U.S. at 230, 67 S.Ct. at 1152. This "clear and manifest purpose" to preempt state law can be shown either by express statutory language or by implication from the statutory structure and purpose. See *FMC Corp. v. Holliday*, 498 U.S. 52, 56-57, 111 S.Ct. 403, 407, 112 L.Ed.2d 356 (1990). We infer preemption only when "[t]he scheme of federal regulation [is] so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the States to supplement it," or when an "[a]ct of Congress ... touch[es] a field in which the federal interest is

---

<sup>5</sup> See also *Price Development Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26; 995 P.2d 1237,1243 (Utah 2000); *In re Estate of Hannifin*, 2013 UT 46; 311 P.3d 1016, 1018 (Utah 2013).

so dominant that the federal system [is] assumed to preclude enforcement of state laws on the same subject." *Rice*, 331 U.S. at 230, 67 S.Ct. at 1152.

Under *State v. Jones*, and the authorities cited therein, pre-emption occurs only where there is a "clear and manifest" intention to pre-empt expressed by the statutory language or by implication from the statutory structure and purpose.

Further, a legislative intent to pre-empt may not be inferred merely from the comprehensiveness of a statute. In *Wintergreen Group, LC v. Utah Dep't of Transportation*, 2007 UT 75; 171 P.3d 418 (Utah 2007), the defendant (UDOT) asserted that the plaintiff's inverse condemnation claims under 29 U.S.C. §1983 were pre-empted by the defendant's previously-filed claims under Utah's direct condemnation statute. The Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court's dismissal of the plaintiff's claims on pre-emption grounds, stating:

[I]t is clear that to extinguish a §1983 claim that is based on an underlying constitutional right, a defendant must establish that by passing a comprehensive statutory scheme "Congress has expressly withdrawn" the underlying constitutional remedy. "The statutory framework must be such that 'allowing a plaintiff' to bring a §1983 action 'would be inconsistent with Congress' carefully tailored scheme." Moreover, the presence of a comprehensive statutory scheme, by itself, "is not necessarily sufficient to demonstrate that Congress intended to foreclose a §1983 remedy." This difficult burden signals to us that the preemption of claims based on underlying constitutional rights is disfavored. In fact, the Court itself emphasized that it does not "lightly conclude that Congress intended to preclude

reliance on §1983 as a remedy for a federally secured right.” 171 P.3d at 422 (citations omitted).<sup>6</sup>

The District Court failed to follow and apply the above-stated legal standards in the present case. First, the District Court failed to allocate the burden of proof to the defendant. Second, although the District Court found that “a preemptive intent is implied by the structure and purpose of the UOSH Act,” it did not find a “clear and manifest purpose” on the part of the Legislature to pre-empt Mr. Graham’s claim. The District Court did not find that the UOSH Act is “so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that [the legislature] left no room for the [common law] to supplement it,” or that Mr. Graham’s claim is in “irreconcilable conflict” with the UOSH Act, as required by *Gottling*, 61 P.3d at 991.

The one specific basis for pre-emption identified by the District Court appears in Paragraph 5 of the District Court’s Order, which states:

5. The Court further finds that allowing plaintiff’s common-law tort claim runs counter to the purpose of the UOSH Act in that it could discourage employees from making a claim under the UOSH Act in order to pursue broader remedies than those provided under the UOSH Act, and that claims under the UOSH Act address the concerns not only of individual employees but also the broader purpose of

---

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