Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

STEVEN ERIC GRAHAM, Plaintiff/Appellant, v. Albertson's LLC., Defendant/Appellee. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly ruled that Graham's wrongful discharge claim is preempted by the UOSH Act under the indispensable element test. The indispensable element test was adopted by this Court in *Retherford v. AT&T Communications* of *Mountain States, Inc.*, as "the correct analytical model for determining whether a statutory cause of action forecloses a common law remedy." 844 P.2d 949, 963 (Utah 1992). Under this test, preemption depends on "the nature of the injury for which [the] plaintiff makes [the] claim, not the nature of the defendant's act which the plaintiff alleges to have been responsible for that injury."" *Id.* at 965 (citations omitted). The indispensable element test has two prongs. Under the first prong, a court determines the nature of the injury the statute in question is designed to address. Under the

second prong, a court determines whether the injury the relevant statute is designed to address supplies an indispensable element of the cause of action being examined. <u>Id. at 965-966</u>. If it does, that cause of action is preempted. <u>Id. at 966</u>.

In this case, the district court properly applied the indispensable element test and held that Graham's wrongful discharge claim is preempted by the UOSH Act. The district court first correctly determined that the nature of the injury that the UOSH Act is designed to address is "retaliation or discharge as a result of reporting a workplace injury, the very injury claimed by [Graham] in this action." (R. 0587-0588, at ¶6.) The district court next correctly determined that discharge in retaliation for reporting a workplace injury is an indispensable element of Graham's claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. Id. To prove his claim, Graham must prove that his alleged discharge contravenes a "clear and substantial public policy" of the State of Utah. <u>Retherford</u>, 844 P.2d at 966. The district court noted that "in claiming discharge in violation of public policy . . . , [Graham] relies on the UOSH Act as the statement of public policy. In the absence of the UOSH Act, plaintiff would be unable to make out his common-law claim." (R. 0587-0588, at ¶6.) According, the district court properly concluded that "the harm the UOSH Act addresses is an indispensable element of [Graham's] tort cause of action and, therefore, the UOSH Act preempts [Graham's] common-law claim here." Id.

The district court also correctly ruled that Graham's wrongful discharge claim is preempted under the more generally applicable field preemption analysis applied by this Court in *Gilger v. Hernandez*, 2000 UT 23, and *Gottling v. P.R. Incorporated*, 2002 UT 95. The district court first correctly noted that although the UOSH Act does not contain an express exclusive remedy provision, "a preemptive intent is implied by the structure and purpose of the UOSH Act." (R. 0587, at ¶ 3.) The purpose of the UOSH Act is to "put in place a comprehensive piece of legislation to provide for the safety and health of workers and provide[] a coordinated plan to establish standards to do so." *Id.* To further that purpose, "[t]he UOSH Act establishes standards, procedures, a scheme of regulation, and a bureaucratic system to implement its aims in a timely and cost-effective approach." *Id.*

The district court further found that allowing Graham's wrongful discharge claim could stand as an obstacle to accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of the UOSH Act. (R. 0587, at ¶ 5.) The district court explained that allowing a wrongful discharge claim for retaliatory termination under the UOSH Act "could discourage employees from making a claim under the UOSH Act in order to pursue broader remedies than those provided for under the UOSH Act, and that claims under the UOSH Act address the concerns not only of individual employees but also the broader purpose of providing for the safety and welfare of all workers through the

broader regulatory structure of the UOSH Act." *Id.* This conclusion is a matter of common sense, and is further supported in this case by Graham's own representations to the district court that he desired to pursue his wrongful discharge claim over an administrative claim under the UOSH Act because he "prefer[s]... the claims and remedies which are available in [tort]" over those available under the UOSH Act, and that if the district court permitted him to do so, it was his intention to voluntarily dismiss his pending administrative proceeding. (Declaration of Steven Eric Graham, R. 0075-0077, ¶¶ 12-13.) Discouraging employees from filing complaints with the Division could impede the Division's ability to execute the full purpose and objectives of UOSH Act because it would decrease information coming to the Division about conduct potentially indicative of unsafe or unhealthy workplaces or that interferes with Division's ability to perform its statutory mandates of conducting workplace inspections and investigating worker injuries, <u>Utah Code § 34A-6-301</u>; enforcing rules requiring employers to report workplace injuries to the Division, id.; issuing citations for violations, id. § 34A-6-302; and petitioning district courts to restrain dangerous workplace conditions or practices. <u>Id.</u> § 34A-6-305.

Graham's arguments against field preemption are without merit.

Graham argues that the district court "failed to allocate the burden of proof to [Albertson's]" because the district court's order does not expressly recite that

Albertson's had the burden of proof in establishing preemption. Opening Brief at 11-12. Yet it is clear from the face of the district court's order and the memoranda submitted by Albertson's in connection with the parties' crossmotions for partial summary judgment that Albertson's met its burden of proof, as each of the grounds relied on by the district court were argued by Albertson's. Graham also argues that the district court's ruling "is based upon an unsupported factual assumption that workers will forego an administrative claim under the UOSH Act to pursue their common law remedy." Opening Brief at 16. But, as noted above, the conclusion that allowing persons to pursue tort claims with more generous available damages and a longer limitations period would discourage at least some of them from making administrative complaints to the Division is not only a matter of common sense, it is supported by Graham's own stated intent in this case.

Graham's argument that the district court did not properly consider his "evidence" against preemption is likewise without merit. Opening Brief at 17-21. In its order, the district court expressly discussed the administrative rule cited by Graham in his first Notice of Supplemental Authority and found it inapplicable on its face. (R. 0587, at ¶ 4.) And, while the district court's order does not discuss the statutory provision cited by Graham in his Second Notice of Supplemental Authority, it explicitly refers to that Second Notice of Supplemental Authority and expressly states that the district court considered

all of the parties' submissions in arriving at its ruling. (R. 0586.) Further, like the administrative rule cited by Graham, the statutory provision he cites is inapplicable on its face. The language and context of that statutory provision shows that it was intended to preserve existing law relating to physical or mental injuries on the job.

Finally, Graham's argument that the limited remedies available under Section 203 "establish an inference against pre-emption" also fails. See Opening Brief at 22. Graham does not support this argument with citation to any supporting legal authority, and Utah law on preemption is decidedly to the contrary. Indeed, this Court found the common law claims in both Retherford and Gottling were preempted notwithstanding that the remedies under the relevant statute were limited (in the case of Retherford) or not available at all (in the case of Gottling).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT GRAHAM'S CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY IS PREEMPTED BY THE UOSH ACT.

The district court correctly ruled that Graham's claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy based on the UOSH Act is preempted by the UOSH Act under both general field preemption principles and under the indispensable element test set forth in <u>Retherford v. AT&T Communications</u> of <u>Mountain States</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 844 P.2d 949 (Utah 1992). Because the indispensable

element test governs in this case and is dispositive of Graham's claim, it is addressed first below.

A. Graham's Claim Is Preempted Under the "Indispensable Element" Test Adopted by *Retherford*.

In his Opening Brief, Graham omits to mention the district court's ruling that his wrongful discharge claim is preempted under the indispensable element test adopted by this Court in <u>Retherford v. AT&T Communications of Mountain States, Inc.</u>, 844 P.2d 949 (Utah 1992).³ However, in <u>Retherford</u>, this Court squarely held "that the indispensable element test is the correct analytical model for determining whether a statutory cause of action forecloses a common law remedy." <u>Id. at 963</u>. This is the precise determination made by the district court in this case and the precise question presented in this appeal.

In Retherford, the plaintiff claimed her former employer terminated her in retaliation for complaining of sexual harassment. <u>Id. at 957</u>. Rather than filing an administrative charge of discrimination under the Utah Anti-Discrimination Act ("UADA"), Retherford sued her former employer for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy because "she hope[d] to avoid

rejects challenge to district court ruling where the appellant fails to address in its arguments on appeal the basis of the district court's ruling).

³ This Court should affirm the district court's ruling for this reason alone. See Roach v. Los Angeles & S.L.R. Co., 74 Utah 545, 280 P.2d 1053, 1055 (1929) ("It is well settled in this jurisdiction that questions not assigned, or, though assigned, but not briefed or discussed, will not be considered."); iDrive Logistics, LLC v. Integracore LLC, 2018 UT App. 40, ¶ 76 (appellate court

[the UADA's] provisions and pursue her common law remedies. . . . " ⁴ <u>Id.</u> at <u>961</u>. Her former employer moved to dismiss this claim on the ground, among others, that it was preempted by the UADA (and Title VII). The trial court converted the motion into a motion for summary judgment, and granted it.

In reviewing the trial court's dismissal of this claim, the question as framed by the *Retherford* Court was, "Does the [UADA's] exclusive remedy provision preempt common law causes of action based on the same facts necessary to prove a cause of action under the statute, including common law causes of action for discharge in violation of public policy[?]" *Id.* at 959. After examining different approaches used by courts in other jurisdictions to answer such a question, the *Retherford* Court held "that the indispensable element test is the correct analytical model for determining whether a statutory cause of action forecloses a common law remedy." *Id.* at 963.

The "indispensable element test" requires a court to "begin with the task of determining what injuries [the statute] is designed to address," and then take "the next step ... to determine whether [those injuries supply] an indispensable element of any of [the plaintiff's] causes of action." <u>Id. at 965-66.</u> If they do, the claim is preempted. <u>Id.</u>

 $^{^4}$ This is precisely what Graham admits he seeks to do in this case. (R. 0075-0077, $\P\P$ 12- 13.)

Applying this test to Retherford's public policy claim, this Court first concluded that the UADA was designed, among other things, to address "all manner of employment discrimination," including retaliation. <u>Id</u>. Having made this determination, this Court next queried whether "employer retaliation supplies an indispensable element of" Retherford's public policy claim. <u>Id</u>. This Court answered that question in affirmative, and held that that Retherford's public policy claim was preempted. This Court explained as follows:

The only possible source in Utah's statutes or constitution for a clear and substantial public policy allegedly violated by Retherford's discharge is the UADA's prohibition of retaliation for good faith complaints of employment discrimination. . . . [W]e find that in the absence of this public policy declaration, Retherford would be unable to allege an action for this tort. Simply put, if there were no UADA policy against retaliation, there could be no tort for discharge in violation of this public policy.

Id. (emphasis added).

Graham's public policy claim is materially indistinguishable from the public policy claim in *Retherford*. The plain purpose of Section 203, on which Graham relies for a public policy, is to prohibit retaliation against an employee who exercises a right under the UOSH Act.⁵ In other words, under the first

• • •

⁵ In relevant part, Section 203 provides as follows:

⁽¹⁾ A person may not discharge or in any way retaliate against an employee because the employee:

prong of the indispensable element test, retaliation for exercising a right under the UOSH Act is the injury Section 203 was designed to address. Further, under the second prong of the indispensable element test (and just as in *Retherford*), retaliation is an indispensable element of Graham's wrongful discharge claim. The only possible statutory source for the public policy against retaliation that Graham advocates is Section 203. In the absence of Section 203's prohibition against retaliation, Graham would not even be able to allege a public policy claim. "Simply put, if there were no [UOSH Act] policy against retaliation, there could be no tort for discharge in violation of public policy." *Retherford*, 844 P.2d at 996.

Thus, under the indispensable element test, the UOSH Act preempts Graham's public policy claim. See also Johnson v. E. A. Miller, Inc., 172 F.3d 62 (10th Cir. Feb 25, 1999) (unpublished), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1004 (1999) (dismissing common law wrongful discharge claims as preempted by Section 203 and the UADA, stating: "[A]ny 'public policy' actions which are based on a statutory cause of action are preempted.") The district court correctly applied the indispensable element test to this case, ruling as follows:

The Court further finds that when it analyzes plaintiff's commonlaw claim in this action, the UOSH Act provides the public policy

<u>Utah Code § 34A-6-203(1)</u>.

⁽c) exercises a right granted by this chapter on behalf of the employee or others.

supporting his common-law claim, and it establishes a procedure and remedy to address his claim, which is retaliation or discharge for reporting a workplace injury in violation of the UOSH Act. As such, the Court finds that the claim at issue comes within the scope of the UOSH Act's preemptive effect. The Court comes to this conclusion based on the indispensable element test set forth in Retherford v. AT&T Communications of Mountain States, Inc., 844 P.2d 949 (Utah 1992). In applying this test, preemption depends on the nature of the injury for which the plaintiff makes the claim. Here, in Utah Code section 34A-6-203, the UOSH Act specifically addresses retaliation or discharge as a result of reporting a workplace injury, the very injury claimed by plaintiff in this action. The Court finds that the UOSH Act establishes a procedure for reporting and investigating a claim of retaliation and discharge, a forum to issue a decision or order, a remedy, and a procedure for review and appeal of that order. Further, in claiming discharge in violation of public policy in his tort claim, plaintiff relies on the UOSH Act as the statement of public policy. In the absence of the UOSH Act, plaintiff would be unable to make out his common-law claim. As such, the Court finds that the harm the UOSH Act addresses is an indispensable element of plaintiff's tort cause of action and, therefore, the UOSH Act preempts plaintiff's commonlaw claim here.

(R. 0587-0588, at $\P6$.)

This Court should affirm the district court's order.

B. The District Court Also Correctly Ruled that Graham's Claim Is Preempted by the UOSH Act Under the Doctrine of Field Preemption.

Even if this case were not governed by *Retherford*, which it is, it would still fail as a matter of law because, as the district court also correctly observed, the purpose and structure of the UOSH Act demonstrate the Utah legislature's

intent to preempt the field of law applying to claims of discharge in retaliation for exercising a right under the UOSH Act.⁶

1. The UOSH Act Creates a Scheme of Statutory Regulation so Pervasive as to Make Reasonable an Inference of Preemptive Intent as to Conduct Explicitly Addressed by the UOSH Act.

This Court first addressed "field preemption" in <u>Gilger v. Hernandez</u>, <u>2000 UT 23</u>. In <u>Gilger</u>, this Court was asked to decide whether Utah's Dramshop Act preempted a common law negligence claim against a social host

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